
PLAN COMMISSION 

  

 

Time and Date:  The Plan Commission met on Tuesday, August 18, 2015, at 5:00 p.m. in the 

Common Council Chambers of Wausau City Hall.   

 

Members Present: Mayor Tipple, Lindman, Gisselman, Atwell, Oberbeck (arrived at 5:05 p.m.) 

 

Others Present:  Lenz, DeSantis, Schwantes, Tierney, Johnson, Ruffi, Buch, Rasmussen, Scheel, 

Frickenstein, Hummer 

 

In compliance with Chapter 19, Wisconsin Statutes, notice of this meeting was posted and transmitted to 

the Wausau Daily Herald in the proper manner. 

 

Mayor Tipple called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. noting that a quorum was present. 

 
Approve the minutes of the July 21, 2015 meeting.        
 
Gisselman motioned to approve the minutes of the July 21, 2015 meeting.  Atwell seconded, and the 
motion carried unanimously 4-0. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: Discussion and possible action on approving a conditional use at 319 North 
3

rd
 Avenue to allow for a two-family dwelling in a B2, Community Service District. (Schwantes) 

 

Oberbeck arrived at 5:05 p.m. 

 

Paul Schwantes, 604 Birch Street, said that he brought the property 6 years ago.  Up until 6 months ago, 

Community Corner Clubhouse was occupying the building.  Prior to this, it was a duplex or triplex at one 

time.  It was remodeled to fit the needs of Community Corner Clubhouse.  The building is currently 

vacant and he has tried unsuccessfully to rent it out as commercial space.  Schwantes asked that a 

conditional use be approved for a duplex and said that he has approximately 30 rental units in the city.  

Schwantes said that he is on the board for the Community Corner Clubhouse and is quite likely that their 

members will be renting in the duplex. 

 

Mayor Tipple closed the public hearing. 

 

Lenz said that a map is in the packet and showed the audience an aerial photo.  There is a mix of uses in 

the area.  It is zoned for commercial use, but a conditional use can be approved for a duplex.  There are 

other duplexes in the area.  The use will be for a two-family dwelling and will not be a rooming house or 

other living arrangement.  There will be separate kitchen and bathroom facilities in the units.  He said this 

is an arterial street and there are commercial and residential uses along it.  Staff recommends approval. 

 

DeSantis asked how many bedrooms would be in each unit.  Schwantes answered that there will be 3 

bedrooms upstairs and 2 bedrooms downstairs.  DeSantis said that in the purpose of the report, it states 

that dwelling units below grade may be allowed with a conditional use.  Schwantes said he believes this is 

an error and that the conditional use is for the 1
st
 floor residency.  This was confirmed. 

 

Gisselman motioned to approve a conditional use at 319 North 3
rd

 Avenue to allow for a two-family 

dwelling in a B2, Community Service District.  Oberbeck seconded, and the motion carried 4-0.  Atwell 

abstained from the vote.  This item will go to Common Council on September 8, 2015. 

 
PUBLIC HEARING: Discussion and possible action on approving a conditional use at 2505 Stewart 
Avenue to allow for a car rental agency in a IB, Interchange Business District. (Tierney) 
 

Sherry Rogers Tierney, Mid-Western Wheels, franchise of Avis Budget Rent-a-car, said that they are 

located at Central Wisconsin Airport and are looking to add a location at 2505 Stewart Avenue.  There 

will be both car and truck rentals.  The cars will be daily-use and have a number of large accounts in the 

downtown area that they will be serving.  This will also be a truck dealer to stage a few budget trucks that 

could be used for business use or for moving purposes.  Tierney said they also offer one-way service out 

of Wausau.  The location at the Central Wisconsin Airport has been operating for 15 years.  The 



Plan Commission 

August 18, 2015 — Page 2 

 
conditional use would be for the car rental. 

 

Dan Johnson, 1602 Skyline Lane, said the facility would bring 10 jobs to the community and is very 

impressive.  This location has had 4 restaurants recently that could not make it. 

 

Mayor Tipple closed the public hearing.   Mayor Tipple read an email from Randy Bailey, Trek Bicycle 

Store.  In the email, Bailey questioned which entrances would be used, how safety of cyclists would be 

addressed, how many cars would be located on the property and how they would be parked, and asked a 

question about the easement on the two properties. 

 

Lenz said in the zoning code, a car rental agency is listed as a potential allowable use.  This is a relatively 

small operation and should provide enough space to park the cars, along with employees and customers.  

Lenz showed an aerial photo and said that with no barrier between the properties, people may float back 

and forth between the properties.  Lenz said it appears that the vehicles will be parked in such a way that 

the correct entrance would be used. 

 

Tierney said the east driveway would be used exclusively and curb stops could be installed.  Once the 

area is marked with parking stripes, the flow of traffic can be easily taken care of.  Tierney said that the 

bicyclist safety is a high concern and they do not want any issues.   

 

Lenz said that according to the application, there will be 20 cars and 5 trucks and asked what type of 

trucks these would be.  Tierney said they would be 10 and 12 foot box trucks.  There could be a 24 foot 

box truck, but that would be very rare.  Cargo vans may also be used. 

 

Johnson said that there are two easements.  A ten foot no build easement starts at the curb and went with 

Trek Bicycle Store.  There is a twenty foot strip near the back of the part of the strip that cannot be built 

on.  There was a cross easement years ago that went away when Burger King was demolished.    

 

Gisselman asked how the car washing will be done.  Tierney said that they are looking at building a small 

garage to the south side of the building.  The cars would be pulled into the garage in the winter and the 

majority of cleaning is done by hand, unless they take it off-site to a car wash.  Lenz said that would be an 

accessory to the use and would be within the conditional use. 

 

Oberbeck motioned to approve a conditional use at 2505 Stewart Avenue to allow for a car rental agency 

in an IB, Interchange Business District.  Atwell seconded, and the motion carried unanimously 5-0.  This 

item will go to Common Council on September 8, 2015. 

 
PUBLIC HEARING: Discussion and possible action on approving a conditional use at 221 Scott 
Street to allow for signage on three sides of an awning in a B4-1, Central Business District. (Ellis) 
 

Mayor Tipple closed the public hearing. 

 

Lenz said that this is for the Landmark building.  A rendering is located in the packet and they are looking 

to update the awning with lettering.  The conditional use is for the lettering.  The lettering will be simple 

and it meets the criteria in the ordinance.  There have been other such awnings approved in the downtown 

area and they have not proven to be an issue.   

 

Mayor Tipple asked if it is lit.  Lenz answered that it would be visible because of ambient street light, but 

would not have its own light source. 

 

Oberbeck motioned to approve the conditional use at 221 Scott Street to allow for signage on three sides 

of an awning in a B4-1, Central Business District.  Atwell seconded, and the motion carried unanimously 



Plan Commission 

August 18, 2015 — Page 3 

 
5-0.  This item will go to Common Council on September 8, 2015. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: Discussion and possible action on rezoning 1741, 1749 & 1757 North 3

rd
 

Avenue from M1, Limited Industrial District, to B1, Neighborhood Shopping District. (City of 
Wausau) 
 

Mayor Tipple read an email from John and Rita Woller.  In the email, it was stated that they preferred 

residential zoning as the first choice, B1 zoning as a second choice, but not industrial zoning. 

 

Sarah Ruffi, 627 Jackson Street, representing David and Becky Hummer, asked if there is an actual 

purpose for this change, as a proposed land use needs to be known. 

 

Phillip Buch, 1721 North 2
nd

 Avenue, said the area has been residential for all these years, other than the 

Digman Properties.  There was a lot of air pollution with Digman Properties.  There are numerous 

violations and there hasn’t been any paving done to the property.  Buch said he would like the zoning of 

the properties be residential.  Buch asked who received the letters because some neighbors didn’t receive 

the letter and asked what the distance of the notification is. 

 

Lisa Rasmussen, 1310 Crescent Drive, said she initiated the process on behalf of the residents in this 

neighborhood.  The Digman properties have been zoned M1 for several decades and it is a 

nonconforming use.  The uses that have been done at these properties are very disruptive to a residential 

area.  Today, M1 zoning would be never be near a residentially zoned area.  There isn’t the ability to 

control noise, hours of operation, disruption, or smell.  The neighborhood is not unfriendly to business, 

but a reasonable land use needs to be on these sites.  B1 is the most restrictive commercial use.  These 

uses are not open late hours and do not manufacture things.  The types of businesses would be office, 

light retail, or clinics.  The neighbors would probably tell you that they want residential zoning, but do not 

want the same uses to continue.  If a commercial use would be necessary, it would be the most restrictive 

commercial use.  It will be less invasive.  The current property owners are splitting ways and will soon be 

for sale and this is the time to address the grandfathered nonconforming use. 

 

Jim Scheel, 1736 North 1
st
 Avenue, said he and his wife are both against the rezoning and it should be 

residential zoning.  Since Mr. Digman has passed away, the path near the fence is not kept up and 

branches are blowing into his yard.  Scheel said he would like to keep it residential. 

 

Jerry Frickenstein, 1720 North 1
st
 Avenue, said that everyone complained about the dust and dirt from 

Digmans.  It should never have been zoned M1, but it was approved.  It is a blighted area and the city has 

torn down barns on Campus Drive.  The two barns on these properties should have been torn down a long 

time ago.  Frickenstein said he doubted that any of these buildings are code compliant.    Frickenstein said 

he had a question about the legal description since it didn’t make sense.  Frickenstein said the properties 

should be R1 or R2 so it is a residential area. 

 

David Hummer, 115 West Campus Drive, said he and his wife are the largest property owners, except for 

the Digman properties.  They have gone through great lengths to rehab the property and are very proud of 

it.  Hummer said they are against anything that is not residential zoning.  A demolition material disposal 

site is a conditional use for B1 zoning and Hummer said he absolutely disagrees with that, if that is the 

intention. 

 

Frickenstein said that Digman sold insulation and paint and asked if there has been any testing on the 

ground pollution in the area and asked if it should be done. 

 

Scheel said that there is an error in the map, just south of 115 West Campus Drive.  The 1748 North 1
st
 

Avenue and 1743 North 1
st
 Avenue lot lines are not correct or the Digman fence is not located on the 



Plan Commission 

August 18, 2015 — Page 4 

 
Digman property.  The owner of 1748 North 1

st
 Avenue confirmed this.  Mayor Tipple said that it is 

possible. 

 

Hummer said that 1974 is the last time that the entire neighborhood was surveyed and there are several 

survey markers along different properties.  Hummer said the survey marker for the southeast corner of his 

property is in the middle of a neighbor’s property.  Hummer said it doesn’t make sense.  This is all 

hearsay and long feud between deceased persons.  Hummer said the lot lines of 1733, 1737 and 1743 

North 3
rd

 Avenue may be wrong because of the northern lot.  Hummer said he would like it cleared up. 

 

Rasmussen said that B1 zoning is most commercial restrictive use and there isn’t a plan for any of the 

conditional uses.  The original plan was to rezone for single family homes, but that type of zoning change 

may hinder the owner’s ability to market and sell the property.  If the commission is interested in zoning 

to residential based on feedback and the process needs to be done it needs to be started right away. 

 

Scheel asked if the lot lines on 2
nd

 Avenue are true.  Mayor Tipple said this would be addressed. 

 

Mayor Tipple closed the public hearing. 

 

Lenz said that since it was noticed as a B1 zoning, the commission could change it to residential since it 

would be more restrictive.  He said a recommendation could be made to Common Council right away to 

rezone to residential, if that is the wish of the commission.  There isn’t a specific proposal for the 

property.  The city is proposing the zoning change but is not the developer; it was proposed to restrict the 

future uses of the property.  There are several uses that would be permitted without review of the 

commission; others would need additional approval.  He said the property line issues sound major, but the 

city surveyor is not present and would not normally get involved with neighbor-to-neighbor disputes.  

Private land surveyors would need to be contacted because the work is very detailed and city does not 

have this capacity.  Mayor Tipple said that he would check out the surveying capabilities because public 

right-of-way is in question.  Hummer said the legal description does not match the survey. 

 

Lenz said that there were comments about the conditional use and a demolition business.  It would be a 

conditional use and the same process of a rezoning would be followed, so the neighbors would be 

notified.  It would be doubtful that the city would approve that type of business because the point of the 

rezoning is to make the property compatible with the neighborhood.  A notification map was shown to the 

audience.  According to the ordinance, property owners within 100 feet need to be notified.  A notice was 

sent to property owners within 200 feet around the properties.  All the properties that are immediately 

around the property were sent a notice.  The notices go to property owners so if it is a rental property, 

tenants would not be sent a copy of the notice.  Lenz said the pollution issue is hard to assess.  If the city 

owned the property, testing would be done, but unless it is severely contaminated, we may not know the 

extent of it.  He said the nuisance ordinance should be followed, particularly in terms of the dust. 

 

Hummer said that 2
nd

 Avenue does not run all the way up as shown on the map.  Lenz said that it is city 

right-of-way as shown and a street could be put there in the future even though there isn’t one there now.  

Mayor Tipple said that the pollution could be remedied as a condition of sale. 

 

Oberbeck asked if there has been any contact with the owner or any comments from the owner.  Lenz said 

that word was passed along to them and they also received a written notice, as the neighbors did.  

Gisselman said he would like to think about a residential zoning and agendize it as a specific item. 

 

Gisselman motioned to postpone this item to the next meeting and have a public hearing for it to be 

rezoned to a residential zoning district.   

 

Lenz said that R1 and R2 and both single family residential districts.  Gisselman said that since the 



Plan Commission 

August 18, 2015 — Page 5 

 
neighbors are R2 zoning, that may be best.  Lenz said the only difference is the lot sizes and setbacks.  

Gisselman asked that the planning office come back with a suggestion at the next meeting.  Lenz said that 

the neighbors are all zoned R2, so that would be the most consistent.  Mayor Tipple asked if another 

public hearing would need to be held.  Oberbeck asked if the B1 zoning would need to be voted down; 

since that is the way it is agendized.  Mayor Tipple said that if it is voted down, it would need to go to 

Common Council as such.  Gisselman said that he would like to have a public hearing to make sure all the 

neighbors are aware of the zoning change. 

 

Atwell asked if the primary reasoning for B1 is the marketability of the property.  The owners may take 

more interest in the zoning change if it were to be rezoned as residential.  Lenz said that staff looked at B1 

to give the owners some options.  The city has the ability to rezone property, but does not typically do it 

without the owner’s consent.  Lenz said the B1 offers options for convenience businesses into a 

neighborhood, such as a corner store.  He said this district is generally seen as compatible with residential 

neighborhoods.  Atwell said that it would be a different outcome and a lot of the residents seem to want 

the residential zoning.  Atwell asked if there are other properties in this area that are owned by the same 

owner.  Lenz said that there are single lots to the east of the 2
nd

 Ave right-of-way that are owned by the 

same owners and are divided for single family homes.  The lots are vacant and the street would be 

extended if developed.  Some developers had looked at these lots, but were having a hard time making it 

work economically because of the demolition and cleanup costs plus extending the infrastructure.  Atwell 

asked if the buildings would need to be demolished if the rezoning is done and a new owner obtains the 

property.  Lenz answered that the use could stay; zoning does not go with the ownership of the property, 

but the use of the property.  Atwell asked if some of the buildings are vacant.  It was confirmed that some 

of the uses are vacant.  The continuation clause will need to be confirmed.  Mayor Tipple said that the city 

would look at the code violations of the property.  Mayor Tipple said that if the properties are rezoned to 

R2, the properties may sit as they currently are.  Atwell asked if certain conditions could be ruled out in 

B1 district.  Lenz said that Common Council has the final vote and staff cannot guarantee that it would or 

wouldn’t be allowed.   

 

Oberbeck seconded, and the motion carried unanimously 5-0.  A public hearing will be held during the 

September 15, 2015 meeting. 

 
Next meeting date and future agenda items for consideration. 
 

The next meeting is scheduled for September 15, 2015.  Lenz said that the Economic Development 

Manager has initiated a special joint Plan Commission and Economic Development Committee to look at 

the Comprehensive Plan on September 1.  A notice and more information will be sent in the near future.  

Mayor Tipple added that a joint meeting makes the most sense. 

 
Adjourn.             
 

Atwell motioned to adjourn.  Gisselman seconded, motion carried unanimously 5-0.  The meeting 

adjourned at 6:10 p.m. 

 

The Plan Commission is next scheduled to meet at 5:00 pm on September 15, 2015. 


